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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

BERNARD PAUL PARRISH, HERBERT
ANTHONY ADDERLEY, and WALTER
ROBERTS IIL, on behalf of themselves and
all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

NATIONAL FOOTBALL LEAGUE
PLAYERS ASSOCIATION, a Virginia
corporation, and NATIONAL FOOTBALL
LEAGUE PLAYERS INCORPORATED
d/b/a PLAYERS INC, a Virginia
corporation,

Defendants.
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CIVIL ACTION NO. C07 0943 WHA

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR
BREACH OF CONTRACT, UNJUST
ENRICHMENT, BREACH OF FIDUCIARY
DUTY, VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA
BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE § 17200,
AND AN ACCOUNTING

CLASS ACTION
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION
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Plaintiffs Bernard Parrish, Herbert Adderley and Walter Roberts 111, by and through their
undersigned attorneys, bring this complaint on behalf of themselves and other similarly situated
retired NFL players against National Football League Players, Inc. (“PLAYERS INC™), and its
parent labor union, the National Football League Players Association (the “NFLPA™ or the

“Players Union”™), as follows:

1. INTRODUCTION

This is a class action lawsuit brought by three classes of retired NFL fooltball players
against the NFLPA and PLAYERS INC. Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants have unfairly
competed and wrongfully interfered with the marketing of the images of all retired NFL players
and further breached their duties to those retired players who have signed a Group Licensing
Agreement (“GLA”). Plaintiffs seek relief on behalf of the Classes for breach of contract, unjust
enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, violations of the California Business & Professions Code
§ 17200, and Plaintiffs seek an accounting.

I1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332 (diversity
jurisdiction) because one or more Class members is a citizen of a state .different from Defendants,
there are more than 100 class members, and, on information and belief, the aggregate amount in
controversy exceeds the jurisdictional amount of §5 million.

2. Venue in this Court is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial part of
the events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this district.

1. INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

3. Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 3-2, assignment of this action to the San Francisco
division of this Court is ﬁroper because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to
the claims herein occurred in San Mateo County.

IV. _ PARTIES

A. PLAINTIFFS
4, Plaintiff BERNARD PAUL PARRISH, a resident of Florida, is a former defensive
back who starred with the Cleveland Browns from 1959 through 1966. Parrish graduated with a
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degree in Building Construction from the University of Florida, School of Architecture and fine
Arts. He was the CEO and President of a commercial construction company for over 20 years that
employed over 3,000 tradesmen, laborers and engineers (both union and non-union), building
hotels, medical and office buildings, and housing for bfﬁce_r and enlisted men on AFB’s in eight
states. Prior to entering the NFL, Parrish was a bascball All-American at the University of Florida
(where he is also a membér of the school’s Hall of Fame) and played one year of professional
baseball. As a pro football player, Parrish played in two Pro Bowl games. In 1964, Parrish led the
Browns to an NFL World Championship, beating thnny Unitas and Coach Don Shula’s heavily-
fa;/ored Colis 27-0. Parrish has been an advocate for retired players for many years. He is the
author of a best selling book, They Call It A Game. He is a competitor and/or potential competitor
to Defendants for the marketing of his image. Parrish has signed a number of Group Licensing
Agreements (GLAs) with the NFLPA.

5. Plaintiff HERBERT ANTHONY ADDERLEY, a resident of New Jersey, is a
former NFL cornerback who starred for the Green Bay Packers and the Dallas Cowboys from 1961
through 1972. Adderley played in five Pro Bowl games during the 1960°s. He also played in
seven NFL championship games, including four of the first six Super Bowl games. Adderley is
one of only two players in pro football history to play on six World Championship teams.
Adderley’s 60-yard interception return for a clinching touchdown for the Packers in Super Bowl II
was the first touchdown scored by a defensive player in Super Bowl history. He was enshrined in
the Pro Football Hall of Fame in 1980. In 1999, Adderley was ranked number 45 on The Sporting
News’ list of the 100 Greatest Football Players. Adderley has signed a number of GLAs with the
NFLPA. He is a competitor and/or potential competitor to Defendants for the marketing of his
image. :

0. Plaintiff WALTER ROBERTS 111, a resident of Northern California since 1979, is a
former wide receiver and kick returner who starred in the NFL from 1964 to 1970. A former
California state and national long-jump champion in 1960, Roberts went on to play with the
Cleveland Browns from 1964 to 1966 and was a member of the Cleveland Browns team that

defeated Johnny Unitas and Coach Don Shula’s heavily-favored Colts 27-0 in the 1964 World
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Championship. Roberts also led the league in kickoff returns that same year. Following his stint
with the Browns, Roberts played with the New Orleans Saints during their inaugural season in
1967 and helped the Saints win their first game in franchise history by scoring three touchdowns in

a 31-24 victory over the Philadelphia Eagles. Roberts also played for Coach Vince Lombardi and

| the Washington Redskins in 1969 and 1970. Following his career in professional football, Roberts

co-owned a building' supplies company called JR Builders Specialties, Inc. He is a competitor ‘
and/or potential competitor to Defendants for the marketing of his image, and still receives many
requests for autographs for trading cards bearing his image.

B. DEFENDANTS

7. Defendant NFLPA, formed in 1956, is a Virginia corporation that acts as the labor
union for professional football players in the National Football League. The NFLPA’s principal
place of business is 2021 L Street, Washington, D.C. According to the NFLPA, “financial security
for players during and after their football career is a goal of the NFLPA.” |

According to the NFLPA’s mission statement:

We, the National Football League Players Association, pay homage to our
predecessors for their courage, sacrifice and vision; pledge to preserve and
enhance the democratic involvement of our members; and confirm our
willingness to do whatever is necessary for the betterment of our
membership to preserve our gains and achieve those goals not yet attained.

8. PLAYERS INC, formed in 1994, is the licensing and marketing subsidiary of the
NFLPA (see Exhibit F). PLAYERS INC is a Virginia corporation with its principal place of
business at 2021 L Street, Washington, D.C. It claims to market active and retired players through
licensed products such as trading cards and video games, television and radio programming,
personal appearances, autograph signings, an Internet site, and events such as the Super Bowl.
PLAYERS INC has already been served and filed and an Answer in this lawsuit. During 2006, on
information and belief, the following officers resigned from PLAYERS INC: its President, its
Executive Vice President, its Senior Vice President, and its Vice President. On its website as of

February 6, 2007, PLAYERS INC listed the following under the category “HISTORY™:

April 1995 PLAYERS INC launches a Player Marketing department to
generate marketing opportunities for NFL players and to support its
licensing departments.

SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION
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June 1998 PLAYERS INC signs MBNA to a five year, multi-million dollar
sponsorship agreement. PLAYERS INC names MBNA the “Official Credit
Card of the NF. Players,” and MBNA uses the sponsorship to include NFL
player images on affinity credit cards.

June 1999 PLAYERS INC signs Coors Brewing Company to a threc year,
multi-million dollar sponsorship agreement. Coors leverages the
sponsorship by creating the “Coors Light NFL Players Starting Lineup”
fantasy football promotion on its 12-packs in the fall,

August 2000 PLAYERS INC and the NFL enter into a historic internet and
sponsorship partnership. NFLPlayers.com becomes part of the NFL Internet
Network and NFL players are now made available to NFL sponsors
exclusively through PLAYERS INC. As part of the partnership, PLAYERS
INC and the NFL manage the NFL Auction on eBay and PLAYERS INC
licenses NFL.com’s fantasy football game.

July 2001 PLAYERS INC licenses Reebok exclusively to produce
authentic and replica NFL player jerseys. Recbok breaks all previous
PLAYERS INC licensed jersey sales records.

February 2003 More than 5 million PLAYERS Inc-licensed videogames
are sold during the 2002 NFL season.

March 2003 Annual retail sales of PLAYERS INC licensed products
reaches $700 million, :

August 2003 PLAYERS INC launches its own fantasy football game, NFL
Players Fantasy Football, on NFLPLAYERS.COM. -

November 2004 PLAYERS INC signs a five year exclusive videogame
license with Electronic Arts (EA), the world’s largest videogame software
manufacturer. ‘ :

March 2005 Annual retail sales of PLAYERS INC licensed products
reaches $750 million.

August 2005 Beat The NFL Players Fantasy Football is available only at
NFLPLAYERS.COM giving fans the chance to test their skills against
former NFL greats Ron Jaworski, Daryl Johnston, Ed McCaffrey, Fran
Tarkenton, Thurman Thomas and Jack Youngblood.

September 2005 PLAYERS INC currently licenses more than 65
comparies for retail and licensed products and does business with 21 NFL
SpOonSors.

On its website on February 6, 2007, PLAYERS INC stated under the heading “What is GROUP

LICENSING?”:

"Group licensing programs are defined as those ‘programs in which a
licensee utilizes a total of six (6) or more NFL players in conjunction with
or on products that are sold at retail or used as promotional or premium
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items. The players may be depicted individually on a product as part of a
series or collectively with other players.

Some PLAYERS INC group licensing programs utilize as few as 6 players
and others as many as 1,800 league-wide. PLAYERS INC works with more
than 60 licensees whose products include: Trading cards (500+ players),
Videogames {1,500+ players), Apparel (1,000+ players) and Collectibles
(75+ players).”

Y. SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

9. The NFLPA is the labor union representing active football players in the NFL.
Almost all active NFL players grant the right to market their names and images to the NFLPA
under the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the NFL (the “CBA”). The NFLPA also offers
membership to retired NFL players and charges them annual dues for membership. The NFLPA
promotes a “Retired Players Group Licensing Program,” which solicits retired players to grant to
the NFLPA the right to market the retired player’s name, number, likeness, voice, facsimile
signature, photograph, picture, and/or biographical information (collectively “image™) as a part of a
group consisting of six or more players.

10.  PLAYERS INC is a for profit corporation owned by the NFLPA. According to a
Form 990 filed by Defendant NFLPA, PLAYERS INC is 79% owned by the NFLPA (see Exhibit
A). The NFLPA assigns the license agreements that it receives from retired players to PLAYERS
INC. As stated on PLAYERS INC’s website on February 6, 2007, the licensing operates as

follows:

When a player signs an NFLPA Group Licensing Assignment (GLA) or assigns his
group licensing rights to the NFLPA, he gives the NFLPA the exclusive right to use
his name, number, likeness, voice, facsimile signature, photograph, picture, and/or
biographical information (collectively “image”) in licensed programs involving six
or more players. The NFLPA has assigned, and will continue to assign, those rights
to PLAYERS INC.

11, On information and belief, PLAYERS INC receives revenues of over $100 million
per year based on sales of 1icensed products of over $700 million per year.

12. On various occasions, PLAYERS INC has made inconsistent, misleading, and
ambiguous representations about the number of retired players that it purports to represent. For
example, PLAYERS INC’s website as of February 6, 2007 (before the original complaint in this

SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION

20183490.1 6 COMPLAINT CASE NO. C07 0943 WHA




o e -1 O

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

19

20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

MANATT, PHELPS &
PHILL1PS, LLP
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

PALD ALTO

Case 3:07-cv-00943-WHA  Document 85  Filed 06/21/2007 Page 7 of 28

matter was filed) stated that PLAYERS INC represents “over 3000 retired players.” Shortly after
this complaint was filed, however, the PLAYERS INC website was changed to say that PLAYERS
INC represents “many memorable retired NFL players.” At present, Plaintiffs-do not know the
exact number of retired players purportedly represented by PLAYERS INC.

13.  PLAYERS.INC and the NFLPA have sought to become the exclusive representative
for active and retired players with respect to licensed products, such as trading cards and video
games, television and radio progrémming, personal appearances, autograph signings, an Internet
site, and events such as the Super Bowl. As a letter (Exhibit B) from the Chairman of PLAYERS

INC to a retired player states:

PLAYERS INC’S licensees such as EA Sports are permitted to secure retired NFL player
rights only from PLAYERS INC, not from any other source, contrary to what others may

have told you. This offer will be your only opportunity to participate in NFL player video
games and get paid. '

Exhibit B (emphasis added). On information and belief, this same letter was sent to a number of
retired NFL players.

14.  Defendant NFLPA has confirmed its desire and intention to become the exclusive
group licensing representative for active and retired NFL players. For example, the NFLPA's
1icensihg agreement (¢ffective March 1, 2007) with one of the major trading card companies, the
TOPPS Company; Inc. (“TOPPS”), attaches a sample GLA between the NFLPA and a retired
player that is entitled “Retired Player Group Licensing Authorization Form™. This sample GLA
states that the NFLPA “agrees to use its best efforts to promote the use of NFL player images in
group licensing programs, to provide group licensing opportunities to all NFL players, and to

ensure that no entity engages in a group licensing program without first obtaining a license from

the NFLPA.” (See Attachment A (page 14) to the TOPPS license agreement, which is attached
hereto as Exhibit C) (emphasis added).

15.  Furthermore, Paragraph 11 of Exhibit C emphasizes exclusivity, not just for group |-
licensing: “Licensee agrees and acknowledges that it shall not secure or seek to secure directly

from any player who . . . at any time was under contract to an NFL club, or from such player’s

201834901 7 SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION
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agent, permission or authorization for the use of such player’s name, facsimile, signature, image,
g

likeness, photograph or biography in conjunction with the licensed product(s) herein.”

A. THE NFLPA AND PLAYERS INC HAVE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
TO THOSE RETIRED PLAYERS WHO HAVE SIGNED A GLA.

16.  On information and belief, Adderley, Parrish and other members of the GLA Class
(see Paragraphs 37-38 for a definition of the GLA Class) entered into one or more versions of
Group Licensing Agreement(s) with PLAYERS INC and/or the NFLPA within the period of the
statute of limitations. The GLA form signed by Plaintiff Parrish in 1998 is attached as an example
of one such agreement (Exhibit D).

17.  According to PLAYERS INC’s website, retired players sign a Group Licensing
Agreement with the NFLPA. In turn, the NFLPA assigns (and will continue to assign) the rights
under those Agreement(s) to PLAYERS INC. On information and belief, some NFL players may
have also signed Group Licensing Agreement(s) directly with PLAYERS INC.

18. A version of the Group Licensing Agreement, executed by members of the GLA
Class including Parrish and Adderley (Exhibit D), provided, in relevant part, that . . . the monies

generated by such licensing of retired player group rights will be divided among the player, the

Players Assistance Trust and, to the extent necessary, may be used to cover the cost of
administering the Retired Player Group Licensing Program.” (emphasis added).
19.  On information and belief, a 2007 version of the Group Licensing Agreement —

attached as a “Sample GLA” fo the NFLPA’s Licensing Agreement with TOPPS (Exhibit C) —

provides, in relevant part, that “the NFLPA agrees to ...use its best efforts to promote the use of
NFL player image in group licensing programs, to provide group licensing opportunities to all NFL
players . .. .” (emphasis added).

20.  Despite Defendants’ obligations to Plaintiffs, an email from the then-president of
PLAYERS INC (Exhibit E) states that only 358 of 3,500 retired players received payments in
2005. These payments amounted to a fraction of PLAYERS INC’s NFL player licensing business.
With respect to those retired NFL players who signed GLAs with the NFLPA that have in turn

SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION
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been assigned to PLAYERS INC, PLAYERS INC has and had an obligation to provide payment
regardless of whether a specific player’s image is or was used (see Exhibit D), which was drafted

solely by PLAYERS INC); as PLAYERS INC’s website as of February 6, 2007 (Exhibit F) stated:

PLAYERS INC has become a fully integrated marketing company for
active and retired NFL players. These activities generate guaranteed
royalties to PLAYERS INC and the players in addition to providing
financial support to the NFLPA. The organization is committed to meeting
the needs of all NFL players in the National Football League by creating
player marketing opportunities, increasing brand awareness and developing
valuable business parinerships. :

PLAYERS INC has positioned itself in the marketplace as a
“brand” and has adopted the slogan “PLAYERS INC MEANS NFL
PLAYERS.” The highly recognizable PLAYERS INC logo, which
represents all players in the NFL, has become a valuable and recognizable
icon that appears on all licensed products and is used in connection with all
sponsorships, promotions and PLAYERS INC events and properties.

Exhibit F (emphasis added).

21.  Although it is to be expected that some better-known players will or may receive
additional payments, cach represented player should have received some payment as a result of
signing a GLA. PLAYERS INC’s website as of February 6, 2007 states: “Any players who are
singled out to promote licensed products are paid additional fees for being highlighted on product
packaging, point of sale, print ads or other collateral material, for autographs, appearances, product
endorsements and commercials.” (emphasis added). Instead of providing payments to all retired
players who signed a GLA, PLAYERS INC has, on information and belief, diverted millions of
dollars from PLAYERS INC to the NFLPA in order to support the overhead, substantial salaries
and perquisites of NFLPA management and employees. Plaintiffs have an ownership interest in

these funds.

B. THE NFLPA AND PLAYERS INC HAVE FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS TO
THOSE RETIRED PLAYERS WHO HAVE SIGNED A GLA.

22.  Furthermore, whether or not the GLAs created contractual obligations to retired
NFL players, as the representative of the retired players who have signed a GLA during the class

period, Defendants have created an agency relationship between themselves and the retired |
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players, either by operation of law and/or as can be inferred or implied based on the conduct of the
parties and the circumstances of the case. Upon information and belief, Defendants have enjoyed
substantial benefits from these agency relationships, and Defendants should now be estopped from
disavowing their resulting obligations.

23, As thé agent of those retired players who have signed a GILA, Defendants have
assumed a confidential relationship with the retired players and are obligated to act with the
highest duty of loyalty and regard for the interests of the retired players. Those duties include
fiduciary obligations. Defendants owed and/or owe cach represented player a fiduciary duty to
seek for that player licensing and marketing opportunities in a fair and equitable manner consistent
with the best interests of that player. Instead, Defendants have acted in an arbitrary, capricious and
inequitable manner, contrary to their fiduciary obligations. Those retired players who have signed
GLAs for any given year are all, as individuals, vulnerable to the size and economic power of
Defendants; their vulnerability empowers Defendants; this empowerment has been soiiéited and/or
accepted by Defendants; and Plaintiffs and the putative class they represent are unable to
effectively protect themselves from Defendants. Many retired players suffer from mental and
physical disabilities as a result of their NFL careers. It would be unfair and contrary to law to
allow PLAYERS INC to reap the benefits of its purported representation - i.e., obtaining sole and
exclusi\.fe right to negotiaté with third parties like EA Sports — but then disavow that relationship
for purposes of avoiding the need to account for and/or fairly represent the retired players who
signed GLAs. Defendants should be estopped from adopting such a position.
| 24.  Exhibit G states that «. . . every retired player has benefited from PLAYERS INC’s
creation... [b]ecause 40% of PLAYERS INC’s operating revenue is paid to the NFLPA as a royalty
.. This allows the NFLPA to provide extensive services and benefits to retired players . . .” But
the NFLPA does not provide “extensive” services and benefits to retired players, even to those
retired players who have chosen to pay the $100 annual fee to join the NFLPA’s retired member

program. As a result, any purported benefits to the retired players have not been actualized'.

1 In addition to poverty-level NFLPA pension payments (Plaintifl’ Adderley, for example,

receives only $176.85 per month), and the failure to disburse royalty payments from PLAYERS
INC to 90% of the retired players who signed GLAs, the situation regarding disability payments to
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